IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MONTANA

No. DA 17-0611

STATE OF MONTANA,

Plaintiff and Appellee,

v.

JOESEPH JOHN MARTINEZ,

Defendant and Appellant.

OPENING BRIEF OF APPELLANT

*On Appeal from the Montana Eighth Judicial District Court, Cascade County,
ADC 14-462, The Honorable Gregory G. Pinski, Presiding*

APPEARANCES:

ROBIN MEGUIRE
P.O. Box 1845
Great Falls, MT 59403
robin@meguirelaw.com

*ATTORNEY FOR
DEFENDANT AND APPELLANT*

TIMOTHY C. FOX
Montana Attorney General
C. MARK FOWLER
Bureau Chief, Appellate Services
Attorney General's Office
P.O. Box 201401
Helena, MT 59620-1401
cfowler@mt.gov

JOSHUA RACKI
Cascade County Attorney
KORY V. LARSON
Deputy County Attorney

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

1. Whether Appellant was deprived of a fair trial and his right of confrontation when the district court precluded questioning and evidence related to Facebook messages authored by the alleged rape victim?
2. Whether Appellant was deprived of a fair trial and his right against self-incrimination when the district court permitted the jury to hear his recorded statements to law enforcement?
3. Whether Appellant was deprived of effective assistance of counsel?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal from a March 14, 2017, jury verdict, finding Appellant Joseph John Martinez (Martinez) guilty of one count of Sexual Intercourse Without Consent (SIWC), a violation of § 45-5-503, MCA. The Eighth Judicial District Court, Cascade County, did not enter an official final judgment adjudging Martinez guilty of the offense of SIWC, however, it entered an Order dated March 20, 2017, reciting the jury's guilty verdict and setting a date for a sentencing hearing (D.C. Doc. 89, Order attached hereto as Ex. A). A sentencing hearing ultimately took place August 2, 2017, where the district court, after receiving documentary evidence, and hearing witness testimony, sentenced Martinez to sixty (60) years at the Montana State Prison (MSP), with ten (10) years suspended. Evidence at sentencing indicated that Martinez has below average intelligence and suffers from

Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Syndrome (ADHD) and Fetal Alcohol Syndrome (FAS). (D.C. Doc. 98 (Sealed), Psychosexual Evaluation Report of Donna M. Zook, Ph.D).

A written judgment followed, in which the district court included the same sentencing rationale pronounced during the hearing. (D.C. Docs. 101, 103, Sentencing Order attached hereto as Ex. B). This appeal timely followed. (D.C. Doc. 106).

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On October 23, 2014, Martinez and a few friends decided to throw a party at Tristen Davidson's garage, since his mother was out of town. (Tr. at 24-26). Davidson and Martinez were 18 years old at the time, but they found someone to purchase alcohol for them, including two bottles of vodka and a case of Bud Light beer. (Tr. at 24, 35, 137). Approximately ten teens, all under 21 years of age, attended the party, including a few girls. (Tr. at 36, 149). Someone brought a bottle of rum. (Tr. at 35). One of the girls at the party was C.H., a 15 year old freshman at a local high school. (Tr. at 54-57). J.G., a friend of hers, invited her to the party. (Tr. at 55, 65). Davidson intended the party to remain in the garage, but by the end of the night, the people remaining at the party went inside the house. (Tr. at 27).

A neighbor called the police around 1:00 a.m. to report a loud party. (Tr. at

117). Great Falls Police Department (GFPD) Officer Jeff Parks responded to the call. He knocked on the front door without response and then went around to the garage which had an open door. He observed empty beer cans. (Tr. at 117-119). Officer Parks then knocked on the side door of the house. Davidson opened the door and gave permission for Officer Parks to enter. Davidson reported that someone was passed out and escorted Officer Parks to his bedroom. (Tr. at 119-122). A male was observed sitting on the floor, and another male and a female were observed on the bed. The female was naked from the waist down and there was vomit on the bed and floor. The male appeared to have his pants down. (Tr. at 130-133, Tr. at 25, 29). Martinez identified himself and the female on the bed was identified as C.H. She appeared drunk to Officer Parks and was mumbling and dry-heaving, however, he admitted that she was responsive enough to get up from her laying position and take off her sweatshirt. (Tr. at 147, 167-69). Martinez was also undisputedly intoxicated. (Tr. at 150). The other male in the room was identified, but never interviewed by law enforcement. (Tr. at 165).

Officer Parks transported Martinez to the GFPD station where Martinez provided a positive BAC breath test. (Tr. at 166). Martinez was advised of his *Miranda* rights, and purported to understand them, despite his obvious intoxication. (Tr. at 150-51). Martinez signed a waiver and gave an interview, where he ultimately admitted to engaging in sexual relations with C.H., including

penetration. (Tr. at 151, State's Trial Ex. 3). Martinez's trial counsel objected to playing the interview at trial on the basis that Martinez's intoxication rendered him incapable of understanding and voluntarily waiving his *Miranda* rights. The district court overruled the motion on the basis it was a jury question and went "to the weight of the evidence." (Tr. at 152). The record does not indicate that Martinez's counsel ever filed a pre-trial motion to suppress the interview.

A redacted video of the interview was played for the jury. (Tr. at 154-62, State's Trial Ex. 5). In the video, Martinez informs Officer Parks that "I'm still really under the influence right now, I hope you know that." Officer Parks responds affirmatively and further states "I can tell." (State's Trial Ex. 5). Officer Parks admitted during trial that he knew Martinez was intoxicated, but felt he was capable of understanding his rights. (Tr. at 152-53, 166-67). During the video, and during trial, Martinez was adamant that he reasonably believed C.H. was around his age, capable of consent, and that she told him that she was a senior. (Tr. at 150-51, 157). Indeed, Martinez's defense at trial was based on consent, that he reasonably believed C.H. was 16 years of age or older, pursuant to § 45-5-511(1), MCA.

The next day, Martinez was transported to the hospital by GFPD Officer Kevin Supalla for a sexual assault exam. In the waiting room, Martinez made several statements, including responses to questions by Officer Supalla, some of

which were surreptitiously recorded. Martinez was in custody, but not re-*Mirandized*, or reminded of his *Miranda* rights. (Tr. at 177-79). The audio was played to the jury during trial, over objection. (Tr. at 175-76). Martinez tells Officer Supalla that he hopes C.H. was at least 17 years old and admits to inserting his fingers into C.H.'s vagina. (State's Trial Ex. 6). Martinez's trial counsel renewed his objection after the video was played, which the district court again overruled. (Tr. at 180).

After researching the issue, the district court later entered on the record that his admissibility ruling—that re-administration of *Miranda* rights to Martinez was not required—was based on the case *Guam v. Dela Pena*, 72 F.3d 767 (9th Cir. 1995) and § 45-8-213(1)(c)(i), MCA, a statute which the district court reasoned permitted Officer Supalla to question Martinez as a public officer “performing his public duty in the official course of business.” (Tr. at 198). During his sexual assault exam, Martinez also made a statement to GFPD Detective Noah Scott, admitting he inserted his fingers into C.H.'s vagina. (Tr. at 126). Martinez was not re-*Mirandized* prior to this statement.

C.H. testified at trial that she remembers drinking quite a bit that night, but does not recall vomiting in the bathroom, or anything that transpired in the bedroom. She only remembers waking up the next morning in the hospital, where she underwent a sexual assault exam by certified Sexual Assault Nurse Examiner

(SANE) Meghan Johnson, R.N . (Tr. at 58-63, 74-78). Johnson was also the examiner for Martinez's exam. Samples were taking during both exams, the results of which were admitted during trial. (Tr. at. 81-83, 85-110). Results indicated positive DNA profile results from C.H. on Martinez's penis. (Tr. at 104-06). C.H. did not recall ever telling Martinez that she was a senior, but also admitted she does not recall ever telling Martinez her age. (Tr. at 68-70). She testified the she never gave consent to sexual intercourse, however, she also testified that she does not remember anything that occurred in the bedroom. (Tr. at 62-63, 70).

During defense counsel's cross-examination of C.H. during trial, he inquires if she recalls exchanging messages with her friend J.G. over the social networking site, Facebook, the day after the party. (Tr. at 71). Counsel's intent was to impeach C.H. on the issue of consent. Indeed, she testified at trial that she did not recall exchanging messages with J.G. after the party. (Tr. at 71). The State objected and the district court sustained the inquiry based on his ruling earlier that day, outside the presence of the jury, that such statements by C.H. constituted inadmissible hearsay and violated the Rape Shield statute:

THE COURT: Okay. So, let me see the Facebook post that you're going to use.

...

MR. NORCROSS: And just for the record, I -- this is a conversation, and if the Court will look at the date on that, it begins -- the conversation with [J.G.] seems to be ongoing. And so it starts out on

October 17th, and so this goes to the relationship between [J.G.] and [C.H.]. There's a lot of planning and preparation for partying, hanging out. There's a lot of information in here regarding drinking and smoking, getting weed, having bud, and having booze, and she's well aware of what she's getting into. There's also some -- regarding [J.G.'s] criminal history, she was aware that there was some instances where he was going out and providing -- getting both alcohol and marijuana. She's well aware of all of that. On page 713, she has a -- I guess, I don't -- on the bottom of that 1214, 1019, and 175239 she makes a statement regarding, Not much. You? And then she made the statement sucking dick, J.K. We're just waking up. So, I mean, she has some ideas of -- she's not just this innocent person who knows nothing. And then continuing on, there's planning about going to -- to the parties.

THE COURT: But is there any testimony that he saw any of these Facebook posts?

MR. NORCROSS: The State provided all this information.

THE COURT: No. But what I'm saying is, is that you're using this to show that he has a reasonable belief that she was over 16 years old.

MR. NORCROSS: Correct.

THE COURT: [] You're using this to bolster your defense that he had a reasonable belief that she was over the age 16, but is there any indication that he saw this Facebook post?

MR. NORCROSS: There's -- I don't believe -- know if he has seen this or not.

THE DEFENDANT: I seen it.

THE COURT: No. I mean, this is a conversation between [C.H.] and [J.G.]. Is your client going to take the stand and testify about that he read these before the night of October 23rd?

MR. NORCROSS: No.

THE COURT: So, how can -- this is just after the -- after the fact, information that he didn't have available. It has to be a reasonable belief to him, and he has the burden of proving it.

MR. NORCROSS: Well, this goes to the state of mind of the witness and not to the state of mind of Mr. Martinez.

THE COURT: So, the State --

MR. NORCROSS: This goes to the credibility of the witness.

THE COURT: So, it goes to her state of mind in the sense that she went there that night wanting to have sex?

MR. NORCROSS: She went there that night, I believe, in looking at

her posting with [J.G.], she's well aware of what's going on and who is there and participating in the activities that everybody was engaging in.

THE COURT: So, how does that not implicate the Rape Shield Statute, which very clearly provides that "evidence concerning sexual conduct is inadmissible in prosecutions under this part, except evidence of the victim's past sexual conduct with the offender or evidence of specific instances of the victim's sexual activity regarding the origin of semen, pregnancy, or disease that is at issue"? The second part doesn't apply. I mean, how is this not sexual conduct -- it doesn't have anything do with Mr. Martinez.

MR. NORCROSS: On page 728, she questions whether -- she asked, Oh, did I sleep with anyone? And [J.G.] says: That's something we're going to have to, you know, talk about. Can you have visitors at the hospital? She's still at the hospital. I'm going to -- I'm really confused. About what? She replies, Last night, all I remember is going pee. Her condition. So, will you tell me what happened? I wasn't a slut, was I? And then you were puking everywhere, and I tried to help you. And then Joey came into info and helped me -- I guess there's mostly -- into and helped me, and I went to [T] to smoke a cog. And when I came back, he was still helping you. And then I let Tanya finish it. When I came back to check -- check [sic] was on top of you with her panties -- your panties down, I guess. And I, like, grabbed him and threw him off, and we got into it. And then the cops showed up with him half naked, and you lying on the bed.

THE COURT: Okay. So, [J.G.] -- is [J.G.] going to testify?

MR. LARSEN: Your Honor, we issued subpoenas. [J.G.] is the same person as [J.B.]. Officer Parks testified he was in the room when he walked in. We were not able to locate [J.B.]. As with several other witnesses, we were not able to locate as well. We were only able to locate Mr. Davidson because he's in the prerelease on a felony. We had some information as to where [J.B.] might be. But we believe he's out of state, and we were unable to find him.

THE COURT: So, how are you going to get this in? It's hearsay.

MR. NORCROSS: Through -- because this is [C.H.'s] Facebook page. This is a conversation --

THE COURT: But she didn't author that. The author is [J.G.].

MR. NORCROSS: This is a conversation that she was having with [J.G.].

THE COURT: Yeah. But that statement --

MR. NORCROSS: This was on Facebook.

THE COURT: The statement that you just read on page 729, the author is [J.G.].

MR. NORCROSS: That's him telling her what happened.

THE COURT: Yeah; but ...

MR. NORCROSS: But this is a memorialized -- this is like a telephone --

THE COURT: But those aren't her words. Those aren't her words. I mean, so if somebody sends me something on Facebook, suddenly I've adopted it just simply because somebody sent it to me?

MR. NORCROSS: Well, I guess based upon unavailability of the witness, Judge.

THE COURT: Well, you've got to cite me a -- you've got to cite me a hearsay exception to that because I don't know -- I've got to find that there's indicia of reliability. And based on the fact that this person can't even spell puking, p-u-k-o-n-g, and it's a nonsensical -- it doesn't even make sense.

MR. NORCROSS: I think, Judge, if you understand teens and the way that they operate, everybody -- they understand what they're saying. She was clear about understanding it.

THE COURT: It -- okay. So, you're going to try to get in [J.G.'s] statements, who is not here. You're going to try to get in his out-of-court statements to show that she was drunk that night. I mean, am I understanding that correctly?

MR. NORCROSS: No, Judge. I'm getting in her -- about her conduct. About, Oh, my god, I'm such a slut. I'm sorry about last night. And then going on further, Judge, they get down to -- on page 732: Are you at the hospital? Yeah. That's good. No more drinking -- [J.G.] says, No more drinking for a while, or are you ready for round two? Just jokes. And she replies on page 733: For real, smiley face; and ...

THE COURT: Yeah. Well, that is sexual conduct with [J.G.].

MR. NORCROSS: No, it's not -- it's not about sexual conduct. It's about going out and drinking again. She just gets out of the hospital from -- from drinking, and then goes right back on the same -- on the 24th.

THE COURT: Well, that's conduct that's after. That's not coming in. I mean, Ms. Quick, do you have a position on this?

MS. QUICK: Your Honor, I analyzed the 1600 pages last night under a number of theories. One is relevance, and I think he provided that

just to [J.G.]. There's multiple conversations. There's Rape Shield concerns, and then obviously the Court's already identified that we have this person who is unavailable for trial. So, looking at prior consistent statements, if he's attempting to get these in through Ms. Hunter, he would first have to have and give her the opportunity to say, Did you send this? Did you not? And then it would be inadmissible still under the relevance theory. I don't think they're relevant. She's consistent with, I do not remember what happened last night. Oh, my god. Did I sleep with someone? She apologizes for being a slut after she's informed by [M.H.] that her best friend is going to jail because of what happened and after she's informed, by [J.G.], that he had to pull Mr. Martinez off of her. And so her reaction that, Oh, my god; I'm such a slut is consistent with what a rape victims feels in these types of situations. And, quite frankly, [C.H.], for the last two years, has felt like this is her fault, and she's only getting to a point where she realizes this is criminal conduct, and she did nothing to ask for it. I think Mr. Norcross's representation that she was planning and participating, drinking, well aware of what she was getting into, turns this into a trial about the victim; that she was asking for it; that she went there; and because she had planned this night of drinking and planned to attend, that she somehow cannot be a victim of rape. And that is simply -- I don't think it's admissible for those purposes. So, I have, obviously, grave concerns on a number of grounds of objections that they're not going to be relevant.

THE COURT: Mr. Norcross?

MR. NORCROSS: Judge, the -- my whole purpose in all of this is about consent, conduct amounting to consent, how do you prove state of mind, and I think that's one of the jury instructions as well.

THE COURT: No. It's not the victim's state of mind. It's the Defendant's state of mind --

MR. NORCROSS: I understand.

...

THE COURT: Okay. So, you can offer these as -- if you want to mark these as an exhibit now for the record and offer them, we can do that.

MR. NORCROSS: Judge, I was not going to offer these as exhibits. I was going to have the witness discuss this with her while she's on the stand regarding her relationship with [J.G.] at the party that evening.

THE COURT: No. I'm not going to allow any of this Facebook discussion to come in. No. 1, it's hearsay. None of the declarant

unavailable exceptions under Rule 804 apply. Nothing has been cited to me to indicate that any exception to the hearsay rule applies. This discussion is both not relevant, it goes to the conduct of the victim. The victim is not on trial here, and it is precluded -- the other portions are precluded by the Rape Shield Statute, which is codified at 45-5-511(2). So, with that in mind, I think we should mark these for clarity of the appellate record. So, let's offer these as Defense Exhibit 1, and then I will refuse the admission of this exhibit on those bases.

MR. NORCROSS: That's fine.

THE COURT: And I don't expect that you'll have any cross-examination on the subject matter that I've excluded here.

(Tr. at 10-20).

One of the Facebook messages sent to J.G. by C.H., in apparent reference to her sexual interaction with Martinez, stated "Omg I'm such a slut I'm sorry about last night." (Defendant's Trial Ex. A, pages 727-729 attached hereto as Ex. C).

Another asked "did I sleep with anyone?" C.H. reiterates in her message that she does not recall the sexual interaction, but at no time does she state that she refused consent, or that she recalls telling Martinez she did not consent. The Facebook messages, denied admission by the district court, were authored by C.H. and J.G.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

This court reviews a district court's evidentiary decisions for an abuse of discretion. *State v. Forsythe*, 2017 MT 61, ¶ 13, 387 Mont. 62, 390 P.3d 931 (citing *State v. Pingree*, 2015 MT 187, ¶ 9, 379 Mont. 521, 352 P.3d 1086).

"Notwithstanding this deferential standard, however, judicial discretion must be guided by the rules and principles of law; thus, our standard of review is plenary to

the extent that a discretionary ruling is based on a conclusion of law. In such circumstance, we must determine whether the court correctly interpreted the law.” *State v. Gittens*, 2008 MT 55, ¶ 10, 341 Mont. 450, 178 P.3d 91 (quoting *State v. McOmber*, 2007 MT 340, ¶ 10, 340 Mont. 262, 173 P.3d 690); *see also*, *State v. Awbery*, 2016 MT 48, ¶ 10, 382 Mont. 334, 367 P.3d 346.

“Moreover, where the court’s conclusions of law involve the Constitution or the rules of evidence, our review is, likewise, *de novo*.” *State v. Patterson*, 2012 MT 282, ¶ 10, 367 Mont. 186, 291 P.3d 556; *see also*, *State v. Colburn*, 2016 MT 41, ¶ 38, 382 Mont. 223, 366 P.3d 258 (J. McKinnon, concurring) (if a district court’s interpretation and application of the law implicates a defendant’s right to a fair trial, this Court will “review the court’s ruling *de novo*”). *De novo* review also applies to claims of ineffective assistance of counsel (IAC), which involve mixed questions of law and fact. *St. Germain v. State*, 2012 MT 86, ¶ 7, 364 Mont. 494, 276 P.3d 886.

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