IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MONTANA

No. DA 17-0611

STATE OF MONTANA,

Plaintiff and Appellee,

v.

JOSEPH JOHN MARTINEZ,

Defendant and Appellant.

BRIEF OF APPELLEE

On Appeal from the Montana Eighth Judicial District Court,
Cascade County, The Honorable Gregory C. Pinski, Presiding

APPEARANCES:

TIMOTHY C. FOX
Montana Attorney General
MADISON L. MATTIOLI
Assistant Attorney General
215 North Sanders
P.O. Box 201401
Helena, MT 59620-1401
Phone: 406-444-2026
Fax: 406-444-3549
mlmattioli@mt.gov

ROBIN MEGUIRE
Attorney at Law
P.O. Box 1845
Great Falls, MT 59403-1845

ATTORNEY FOR DEFENDANT
AND APPELLANT

JOSHUA RACKI
Cascade County Attorney
KORY V. LARSON
Deputy County Attorney

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The district court did not abuse its broad discretion when it precluded Martinez from questioning C.H. regarding messages she authored in the hospital the morning after she was raped. The messages were irrelevant to the issue of consent, and Martinez's stated purpose for introducing them violated the Rape Shield. To the extent the district court erroneously concluded the messages authored by C.H. were hearsay and that no exception applied, it nevertheless reached the right result, and this Court should affirm. He was not deprived of his right to confrontation as his counsel cross-examined the victim at length.

The district court correctly allowed Martinez’s recorded statements to be played for the jury as neither Martinez’s supposed intoxication nor his self-reported diagnoses of ADHD and FAS *per se* invalidate his *Miranda* waiver. The totality of the circumstances demonstrate that Martinez’s *Miranda* waiver was valid. Martinez was not subject to an interrogation when he made statements in the hospital, and law enforcement was not required to re-administer *Miranda* warnings or remind him of earlier warnings.

Finally, Martinez received effective assistance at trial when his counsel objected to the recordings of Martinez’s statements being played for the jury, thus preserving them for appellate review. Even if this Court determines that counsel should have filed a pretrial motion to suppress, Martinez has failed to demonstrate prejudice as a result of his counsel’s allegedly deficient performance because his recorded statements were not obtained in violation of *Miranda*.

ARGUMENT

I. The district court correctly precluded Martinez from questioning C.H. about Facebook messages she authored after the rape.

Martinez claims he was denied a fair trial and his right to confrontation when the district court denied admission of the Facebook messages authored by C.H. to Breznik. (Appellant’s Br. at 13-18.) He claims that these messages, “especially C.H.’s reference, twice, to being a ‘slut’ that night and asking if she

slept with anyone were both relevant and admissible on the issue of consent.”

(*Id.* at 13.) To the contrary, the district court correctly exercised its discretion when it concluded that the messages were not relevant to any fact at issue in the case and covered topics precluded by the Rape Shield. To the extent the district court erroneously concluded the messages authored by C.H. were hearsay and inadmissible on that basis, this Court should affirm the result as being right for the wrong reason.

A person commits the offense of sexual intercourse without consent when the person knowingly has sexual intercourse with another person without consent or with another person who is incapable of consent. Mont. Code Ann. § 45-5-503(1). Sexual intercourse means, among other things, penetration of the vulva of one person by the penis of another person, or penetration of the vulva of one person by a body member of another person, to knowingly or purposely arouse or gratify the sexual response or desire of either party. Mont. Code Ann. § 45-2-101. “Consent” means words or overt actions indicating a freely given agreement to have sexual intercourse or sexual contact and lack of consent may be inferred based on all of the surrounding circumstances and must be considered in determining whether a person gave consent. Mont. Code Ann. § 45-5-501. A victim is incapable of consent if the victim is mentally incapacitated, physically helpless, or less than 16 years old. Mont. Code Ann. §§ 45-5-501(i)-(ii), (iv).

Martinez claims he wanted to question C.H. about the Facebook messages she authored to Breznik “to impeach [her] on the issue of consent.” (Appellant’s Br. at 6.) It is unclear to the State how these messages are “undisputedly relevant to the issue of consent.” (Appellant’s Br. at 16.) Nothing in the messages authored by C.H. after the rape has any tendency to make the existence of any fact that is of consequence to the determination of the action more probable or less probable than it would be without the evidence. Mont. R. Evid. 401. In fact, it is undisputed that C.H., who was 15 years old at the time Martinez raped her, was mentally incapacitated due to alcohol. She was treated for alcohol poisoning and spent close to 24 hours throwing up. Martinez himself told Parks he had to administer CPR three separate times to keep her alive so he could have sexual intercourse with her. He told Parks that even if C.H. was his age, “18 can still be considered rape because of the alcohol and drugs and shit.” Indeed, even Martinez knew C.H. was incapable of consenting to have sex with him as a matter of law. The fact that C.H., the day after the rape, apologized to another person for being “a slut” is completely irrelevant and not probative of the issue of consent in this case.

Further, Montana’s Rape Shield Law generally precludes any “[e]vidence concerning the sexual conduct of the victim.” Mont. Code Ann. § 45-5-511(2). The statute is designed to prevent the defendant’s trial “from becoming a trial of the victim’s prior sexual conduct” and to protect victims from “harassing or irrelevant

questions concerning their past sexual behavior.” *State v. Colburn*, 2016 MT 41, ¶ 22, 382 Mont. 223, 366 P.3d 258 (citations omitted). As the State argued below, “‘Oh my god; I’m such a slut,’ is consistent with what a rape victim feels in these types of situations.” (3/14/17 Tr. at 17.) Martinez’s representations “that she was planning and participating, drinking, well aware of what she was getting into, turns this into a trial about the victim; that she was asking for it; that she went there; and because she planned this night of drinking and planned to attend, that she somehow cannot be a victim of rape.” (*Id.*) The district court correctly concluded that the messages authored by C.H. were inadmissible for those stated purposes. (*Id.*)

II. The district court properly allowed Martinez’s recorded statements at trial.

A. The totality of the circumstances show that Martinez’s *Miranda* waiver was valid.

In the context of “custodial interrogation,” certain procedural safeguards are necessary to protect a defendant’s Fifth and Fourteenth Amendment privileges against compulsory self-incrimination. *Rhode Island v. Innis*, 446 U.S. 291, 297 (1980). In addition to the Fifth Amendment of the United States Constitution, article II, section 25 of the Montana Constitution provides the right against self-incrimination. *State v. Main*, 2011 MT 123, ¶ 15, 360 Mont. 470, 255 P.3d 1240. Thus, the State “may not use statements that stem from a custodial interrogation of a defendant

unless the defendant is warned, prior to questioning, that he has a right to remain silent, that any statement he does make may be used as evidence against him, and that he has a right to the presence of an attorney.” *State v. Olson*, 2003 MT 61, ¶ 13, 314 Mont. 402, 66 P.3d 297 (citing *Miranda v. Arizona*, 384 U.S. 436, 444 (1966)). There are two separate components to the “custodial interrogation” determination: (1) whether the individual was “in custody” and (2) whether the individual was subjected to an “interrogation.” *State v. Munson*, 2007 MT 222, ¶ 21, 339 Mont. 68, 169 P.3d 364. The State does not dispute that Martinez was subject to a custodial interrogation when questioned by Parks at GFPD.

A suspect may waive his Fifth Amendment rights if such a waiver is made voluntarily, knowingly, and intelligently. *Main*, ¶ 21 (citations omitted). As this Court has cited, the United States Supreme Court has stated that this inquiry has “two distinct dimensions.” *Id.* (citations omitted).

First, the relinquishment of the right must have been voluntary in the sense that it was the product of a free and deliberate choice rather than intimidation, coercion, or deception. Second, the waiver must have been made with a full awareness of both the nature of the right being abandoned and the consequences of the decision to abandon it. Only if the ‘totality of the circumstances surrounding the interrogation’ reveals both an uncoerced choice and the requisite level of comprehension may a court properly conclude that the Miranda rights have been waived.

Main, ¶ 21 (citations omitted).

This Court has “likewise stated that ‘a valid waiver must include not merely a comprehension of the benefits being abandoned, but also an actual relinquishment of those benefits, as evidenced by the actions or statements of the accused.’” *Main*, ¶ 21 (citing *State v. Blakney*, 197 Mont. 131, 138, 641 P.2d 1045, 1049-50 (1982)). Thus, “[t]he existence of a valid waiver ‘must depend, in each case, upon the particular facts and circumstances surrounding that case, including the background, experience, and conduct of the accused.’” *Id.* (citations and internal quotations omitted). Other considerations include “the age, education, and intelligence of the accused, and his capacity to understand the warnings given him, the nature of his Fifth Amendment rights, and the consequences of waiving those rights.” *Id.* (citation and internal quotations omitted). In *Main*, this Court explicitly noted, “[w]e have considered a defendant’s responses to questions while supposedly intoxicated as one factor to consider in the totality of the circumstances as to whether a waiver was made knowingly, intelligently, and voluntarily.” *Main*, ¶ 21 (citing *State v. Cassell*, 280 Mont. 397, 403, 932 P.2d 478, 481-82 (1996)).

Martinez argues that he was too intoxicated to have validly waived his *Miranda* rights and that other jurisdictions have invalidated a defendant’s *Miranda* waiver based on intoxication, citing in support *United States v. Bonner*, 2010 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 38586 (M.D. Pa. Apr. 20, 2010), a United States District Court trial court opinion from Pennsylvania, and *State v. Bramlett*, 94 N.M. 263, 609 P.2d 345

(N.M. 1980) (*overruled in part by Armijo v. State ex rel. Transp. Dep't*, 105 N.M. 771, 737 P.2d 552 (N.M. 1987)), a Court of Appeals of New Mexico opinion from 1980. Neither case is binding on this Court and both are factually distinguishable, thus, not persuasive.

Importantly, the district court in *Bonner* simply analyzed the defendant's intoxication as this Court does: as one factor in the totality of the circumstances. The court, citing *Moran v. Burbine*, 475 U.S. 412, 421 (1986), noted, "[t]o determine the validity of a *Miranda* waiver, courts analyze the 'totality of the circumstances surrounding the interrogation' to determine whether they 'reveal both an uncoerced choice and the requisite level of comprehension.'" *Bonner*, at *16. The statements the court suppressed in this case were made following the detectives "convey[ing] a falsehood to Bonner when they explained that he was not a target of the investigation." *Id.* Bonner told officers he was suffering from the lingering effects of marijuana and PCP and that PCP use typically affects him for "a day or two." *Id.* at *18 n.11. Analyzing the totality of these circumstances, the court concluded "Bonner's *Miranda* waiver was not voluntary; his partial intoxication and the nature of the detectives' deceptive comment are sufficient to invalidate Bonner's rights waiver." *Id.* at *19.

In *Bramlett*, the defendant made a series of statements on scene after he had been involved in a one-vehicle accident and administered *Miranda* warnings, and

another statement at the police station after he signed a written waiver of his rights. *Bramlett*, ¶¶ 18-19. Officers described the defendant at the time of arrest as “staggering, slurred speech, difficulty in walking, strong alcoholic smell” and he registered a blood alcohol content of 0.23. These same officers decided the defendant was too intoxicated to be released and they continued his detention in jail “for his own protection.” *Bramlett*, ¶ 20. The Court of Appeals noted it was “difficult to reconcile their conclusion of his extreme intoxication with their opinion of his judgmental awareness of his rights and an intelligent waiver of them.” *Id.* The Court concluded that “[s]uch conflicting evidence from the same witnesses offends the standards of fundamental fairness under the due process clause and is unworthy of the degree of belief necessary to sustain a finding of voluntary waiver. *Id.*, ¶ 21 (internal citations omitted). Here, Parks made no similar observations regarding Martinez’s level of intoxication, nor was he detained for his own protection.

In *Main*, Main also claimed to have been intoxicated during his interrogation and that “other jurisdictions ‘have held that alcohol intoxication may invalidate a *Miranda* waiver.’” *Main*, ¶ 24. However, this Court specifically recognized that “the cases he cites analyze intoxication as we do: as one factor in the totality of the circumstances.” *Main*, ¶ 24 (citation omitted). This Court determined that Main’s waiver was the product of a free and deliberate choice and that it was made with a

full awareness of both the nature of the right being abandoned and the consequences of the decision to abandon it to be voluntarily, knowingly, and intelligently given. *Main*, ¶ 24 (citations and quotations omitted). In making this determination, the Court noted that an officer “testified during the suppression hearing that, while Main smelled of alcohol and occasionally slurred his words, ‘[h]e wasn’t stumbling. He answered questions in an articulate manner.’” *Main*, ¶ 23.

Similarly, in *Cassell*, this Court concluded, based on the totality of the circumstances, “that Cassell’s statements were made voluntarily and that his waiver of his Fifth Amendment rights was made knowingly, intelligently and voluntarily,” where Cassell was 43 years old at the time of the interrogations and he had a lengthy police record. *Cassell*, 280 Mont. at 403. “Thus,” this Court concluded, “he was familiar with the criminal justice system and police interrogation methods. None of the three interrogations were overly long and no threats were made.” *Id.* This Court emphasized that “the answers given by Cassell to the questions asked of him in the taped interviews were appropriate to the questions, thereby refuting Cassell’s argument that he was too intoxicated to understand what was happening.” *Id.*

Martinez argues that the totality of the circumstances, including his “undisputed intoxicated state at the time of the waiver, his age, diagnosis of A[D]HD, FAS, education level, and intellectual capacity, invalidates his Miranda waiver, rendering his recorded statements inadmissible during trial.” (Appellant’s Br. at 23.) However,

and unlike the cases Martinez cites, the totality of the circumstances present here demonstrate that Martinez's waiver was the product of a free and deliberate choice and that it was made with a full awareness of both the nature of the right being abandoned and the consequences of the decision to abandon it to be voluntarily, knowingly, and intelligently given.

Parks testified that before Martinez waived his *Miranda* rights, he "appeared intoxicated," but he was coherent and able to understand and follow Parks' instructions. Despite his claimed intoxication, Parks testified that Martinez "tracked" and responded appropriately to his questions. At the time of the interview, at least two hours had elapsed since Martinez had consumed any alcohol and he did not fall asleep during the interview or otherwise act incoherent or incompetent. The recorded interview speaks for itself and undermines Martinez's contention that he was too intoxicated to waive his rights. *See State v. Nixon*, 2013 MT 81, ¶ 40, 369 Mont. 359, 298 P.3d 408; *Cassell*, 280 Mont. at 403. Martinez understood why he was being questioned, as well as the consequences of his actions, evidenced by his ever-changing story and fear of going to prison if he confessed. Martinez listened to Parks read his *Miranda* rights and signed a form waiving those rights. Parks testified that he was satisfied that Martinez was competent to waive his rights at that time.

In support of his arguments regarding "his age, diagnosis of A[D]HD, FAS, education level, and intellectual capacity," Martinez cites to information contained

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